WHO/HIV\_AIDS/2001.02 WHO/CDS/CSR/EDC/2001.10 Original: English Distr.: General

GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND Description of SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS OVERVIEW AND ESTIMATES



WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS OVERVIEW AND ESTIMATES



WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION GENEVA 2001



#### Copyright © World Health Organization 2001. Revised edition, November 2001.

This document is not a formal publication of the World Health Organization (WHO) and all rights are reserved by the Organization. This document may, however, be reviewed, abstracted, quoted or translated in part, but not for sale or for use in conjunction with commercial purposes.

No part of this document may be stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means – electronic, mechanical, or other – without the prior written permission of WHO.

Design by RSdeSigns.com.

# GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS

# CONTENTS

Introduction	
Background	5
Global Estimates	8
Chlamydia estimates, 1999	11
Gonorrhoea estimates, 1999	15
Syphilis estimates, 1999	21
Trichomoniasis estimates, 1999	27
Prevention	30
Antibiotic resistance	30
References	34

### GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE **SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS**

### **LIST OF BOXES**

Box 1	Methodology	2
Box 2	Complications of STIs	7
Box 3	Basic facts about Chlamydia	11
Box 4	Basic facts about Gonorrhoea	16
Box 5	Basic facts about Syphilis	21
Box 6	Basic facts about trichomoniasis	27
Box 7	Prevention of STIs	30

### **LIST OF TABLES**

Table 1	Estimated prevalence and annual	
	incidence of curable STIs by region	9
Table 2	2 Estimated new cases of Chlamydial	
	infections, 1995 and 1999	13
Table 3	B Estimated new cases of gonorrhoea	
	infections 1995 and 1999	19
Table 4	Estimated new cases of syphilis,	
-	1995 and 1999	22
Table 5	Estimated new cases of trichomoniasis,	
	1995 and 1999	29



# GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1	Estimated new cases of selected curable STIs, 1999	1
Figure 2	Estimated new cases of curable STIs, 1999	8
Figure 3	Estimated prevalence of selected curable STIs, 1999	ę
Figure 4	Estimated new cases of chlamydia infections, 1999	10
Figure 5	Chlamydia prevalence rates asymptomatic women in European countries, 1992-97	12
Figure 6	Chlamydia prevalence rates pregnant women, Africa 1990s	13
Figure 7	Estimated new cases of gonorrhoea infections,	1999 14
Fgure 8	Estimated gonorrhoea prevalence rates, Western Pacific, 1990s	17
Figure 9	Estimated new cases of syphilis infections, 1999	20
Figure 10	Syphilis prevalence rates in the Baltic countries, 1990-96	23
Figure 11	Syphilis prevalence rates in former Soviet Union countries, 1990-96	23
Figure 12	2 Syphilis prevalence rates, pregnant women in Africa, 1990s	25
Figure 13	Estimated new cases of trichomoniasis, 1999	26
Figure 14	Trichomoniasis prevalence rates pregnant women. Africa 1990s	28





Canada

### WESTERN EUROPE

Albania Malta Netherlands Austria Belaium Norway Denmarl Portugal Finland Slovenia France Spain Germany Sweden Greece Switzerland Iceland **TFYR Macedonia** Ireland Yugoslavia

### NORTH AFRICA & THE MIDDLE EAST

Morocco Oman Yemen

# LATIN AMERICA & THE CARIBBEAN

Bahamas Barbados Belize Mexico Brazil Netherlands Antilles Colombia Costa Rica Panama Dominican Puerto Rico Suriname El Salvador Guadaloupe Guatemala Guyana

Cyprus	Qatar
Egypt	Saudi A
Gaza Strip	Sudan
Iraq	Syrian A
Israel	Repub
Jordan	Tunisia
Kuwait	Turkey
Lebanon	United A
Libuan Arab	E-million A

### SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

Angola

Benin

Botswana

Burundi

Cameroon

Cape Verde

Republic

Chad

Conao

Djibouti

Equatorial

Guinea

Ethiopia Nigeria Gabon Reunion Gambia Rwanda Burkina Faso Ghana Senegal Guinea Sierra Leone Guinea-Bissau Somalia South Africa Lesotho Swaziland Central African Liberia Togo Madagascar Uqanda Malawi United Rep. Of Mali Tanzania Cote d'Ivoire Mauritania Mauritius Zambia Mozambique Zimbabwe Namibia Niger

EASTERN EUROPE

& CENTRAL ASIA

Lithuania

Republic of

Moldava

Federation

Turkmenistan

Romania

Russian

Slovakia

Taiikistan

Ukraine Uzbekistan

Poland

Armenia

Belarus

Bosnia

Bulgaria

Estonia

Georgia

Hungary

Kazakstar

Czech Republic

Azerbaijan

**SYPHILIS CHLAMYDIA GONORRHOEA TRICHOMONIASIS GLOBAL TOTAL** 

12 MILLION 92 MILLION 62 MILLION 174 MILLION **340 MILLION** 

### EAST ASIA & PACIFIC

Republic of Korea Rep of Korea Guam Hong Kong New Caledonia Solomon Islands Mongolia Papua New Samoa

### SOUTH & SOUTHEAST ASIA

Malaysia Bangladesh Maldives Bhutan Myanmar Brunei Darussalam Nepal Cambodia Pakistan East Timor Singapore Sri Lanka Indonesia Iran (Islamic Thailand Republic of) Vietnam Dem. Rep.

## AUSTRALIA & NEW ZEALAND

New Zealand





# INTRODUCTION

Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) are a major global cause of acute illness, infertility, long term disability and death, with severe medical and psychological consequences for millions of men, women and infants.

WHO estimated that 340 million new cases of syphilis, gonorrhoea, chlamydia and trichomoniasis have occurred throughout the world in 1999 in men and women aged 15-49 years.

In 1990, WHO estimated that over 250 million new cases of STIs had occurred that year.<sup>1</sup> The estimation was based in a modified Delphi technique, which was chosen due the limited information on incidence and prevalence of STI available at that time from many regions including sub-Saharan Africa and some parts of Asia.

In 1995, using a revised methodology described below, the number of new cases of STIs was estimated to be 333 million.<sup>2</sup> The estimation for 1999 is made using the same methodology that in 1995. Data for the estimation were collected by searching published and unpublished information on prevalence and incidence, both in the literature and in the WHO country files for STIs. The WHO estimates, although based on a comprehensive survey of the available information, are affected by the quantity and quality of prevalence and incidence data from the different regions, and our knowledge of the duration of infection.

Interpreting the data form prevalence studies and comparing results is further complicated by the

### Box 1. Methodology

- Collection and compilation of database of published and unpublished prevalence data.
- Regional prevalence estimates for gonorrhoea, chlamydia and syphilis was calculated using the median prevalence rate from all countries in the region and mid year UN population estimates for adults of 15-49 years of age.
- Regional prevalence estimates for trichomoniasis in women was calculated as being two times chlamydia prevalence. For men it was calculated as one tenth of the prevalence in women.
- Regional incidence estimates were calculated by dividing prevalence by the duration of disease.
- Estimates for duration of infection was made for symptomatic, asymptomatic, treated and untreated adjusted for sex and region.

A more complete description of the methodology is available upon request from WHO.

nature of the populations studied. Few studies are community-based and the majority of data come from studies carried out in specific populations, such as STI or antenatal clinic attendees. Other limitations are the small samples sizes, the different diagnostic approaches and study designs used.

Data from epidemiological surveys show that within countries and between countries in the same region, the prevalence and incidence of STIs may vary widely, between urban and rural population, and even in similar population groups.

These differences reflect a variety of social, cultural, and economic factors, as illustrated by the HIV epidemic, and also differences in the access to appropriate treatment. In general, the prevalence of STIs tends to be higher in urban residents, in unmarried individuals, and in young adults. STIs tend to occur at a younger age in females than in males, which may be explained by differences in patterns of sexual activity and in the relative rates of transmission from one sex to the other.

At the population level, the spread of an STI depends upon the average number of new cases of infection generated by an infected person. This can be described in terms of the basic or casereproduction ratio (Ro) which, for an STI, depends upon the efficiency of transmission (b), the mean rate of sexual partners change (c) and the average duration of infectiousness (D), as expressed in the form

### Ro = b \* c \* D

The higher the value of Ro the greater the potential for the spread of the infection

# BACKGROUND

There are more than 20 pathogens that are transmissible through sexual intercourse. Many of them are curable by appropriate antimicrobial treatment. However, in spite of the availability of effective treatment, bacterial STIs are still a major public health concern in both industrialised and developing countries.

The exact magnitude of the STIs burden is frequently unknown. Although passive STIs surveillance systems exist in some countries, the data is not always reliable or complete. The quality and completeness of the available data and estimates depend on the quality of STIs services, the extent to which patients seek health care, the intensity of case finding and diagnosis and the quality of reporting.

The completeness is further affected by the STIs natural history, since a large number of infections are asymptomatic. Moreover, only part of the symptomatic population seeks health care and even a smaller number of cases are reported. The social stigma that usually is associated with STIs may result in people seeking care from alternative providers or not seeking care at all. As a result, report-based STI surveillance systems tend to underestimate substantially the total number of new cases. Curable STIs are not only a concern due to the discomfort resulting from the acute infection. Both symptomatic and asymptomatic infections can lead to the development of serious complications with severe consequences for the individuals and for the community. The most serious complications and long term consequences of untreated STIs tend to be in women and new-born babies.

In developing countries, STIs and their complications are amongst the top five disease categories for which adults seek health care. In women of childbearing age, STIs (excluding HIV) are second only to maternal factors as causes of disease, death and healthy life lost<sup>3</sup>.

Apart from being serious diseases in their own right, STIs enhance the sexual transmission of HIV infection. The presence of an untreated STD (ulcerative or non-ulcerative) can increase the risk of both acquisition and transmission of HIV by a factor of up to 10. Moreover, the improvement in the management of STIs can reduced the incidence of HIV-1 infection in the general population by about 40%<sup>+</sup> STIs prevention and treatment are, therefore, an important component in HIV prevention strategy. The highest rates of STIs are generally found in urban men and women in their sexually most active years, that is, between the ages of 15 and 35. On average, women become infected at a younger age than men.

Over and Piot<sup>5</sup> have shown the economic implication of early detection and treatment of STIs. They have estimated that the cure or prevention of 100 initial cases of gonorrhoea in the non-core groups prevents a total of 426 future cases of gonorrhoea in the next 10 years. If the 100 cases prevented are extracted from the core group, the number of cases averted rises to 4278.

Box 2. Complications of STIs	
In adults	In children
Pelvic inflammatory	Congenital syphilis
disease	
Ectopic pregnancy	Pneumonia
Infertility	Prematurity,
	low birth weight
Cervical cancer	Blindness
Spontaneous abortion	Stillbirth





## **GLOBAL ESTIMATES**

WHO estimates that 340 million new cases of STIs
have occurred worldwide in 1999. The largest
number of new infections occurred in the region of
South and Southeast Asia, followed by sub-Saharan
Africa and Latin America and the Caribbean.
However, the highest rate of new cases per 1000
population has occurred in sub Saharan Africa.



### FIGURE 3. ESTIMATED PREVALENCE OF CURABLE STI AMONG ADULTS, 1999

Table 1. Estimated prevalence and annual incidence of curable STIs by region

				Annual	L)
Region P	opulation 15-49	Prevalence	Prevalence	Incidence	
(million)	(million)	(million)	per/1000	(million)	1
North America	156	3	19	14	
Western Europe	203	4	20	17	
North Africa					
& Middle East	165	3.5	21	10	
Eastern Europe					
& Central Asia	205	6	29	22	
Sub Saharan Africa	269	32	119	69	
South					
& South East Asia	955	48	50	151	
East Asia & Pacifiic8	15 6	7	18		
Australia					
& New Zealand	11	0.3	27	1	
Latin America					
& Caribbean	260	18.5	71	38	-
Total	3040	116.5		340	



9



### **CHLAMYDIA**

Chlamydia is a common cause of pelvic inflammatory disease with subsequent risk for infertility. The higher prevalence of chlamydia observed amongst female adolescents (24.1%-27%),<sup>6,7</sup> and the association with young age<sup>8</sup> highlight the important role that screening of sexually active female play in the prevention of infertility.

In 1996 genital chlamydial infection was the most commonly reported notifiable infectious disease in the United States with an annual point estimates of approximately 3 million cases<sup>9</sup>,

#### Box 3. Basic facts about Chlamydia

- 70-75% of women infected with Chlamydia trachomatis are symptom free. Even in men, the rate of asymptomatic chlamydia infection is higher than the rate of asymptomatic gonorrhoea infection.
- Clinical manifestations: mucosal inflammation of the urogenital tract, throat or rectum in both males and females. Neonatal eye infection and pneumonia.
- Complications: in women, pelvis sepsis leading to abscess formation, chronic and recurrent pelvic inflammatory disease, ectopic pregnancy, infertility and chronic pelvic pain. In men, chronic genital tract infection, possibly resulting in infertility. In children, pneumonia and eye infection.
- Diagnosis: Requires sophisticated equipment, is costly and not always available in developing country laboratories.





![](_page_18_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 5. Chlamydia prevalence rates (%) amongst

In Western Pacific, studies amongst pregnant women have shown a prevalence rate that ranges from of 5.7% in Thailand<sup>10</sup> up to 17% in India<sup>11</sup>. One study in a rural population in Papua New Guinea showed a prevalence rate of 26%<sup>12</sup>.

In Australia, number of STI notified in 1998 was higher than in 1997. Chlamydia infection was the most common STI notified and the third highest for all notifiable diseases.<sup>13</sup>

In Europe, prevalence of chlamydia infection amongst pregnant women ranges from 2.7% in Italy to 8% in Iceland, with low prevalence and incidence rates in the Nordic countries, following a wide scale screening programmes in the 1970s (Figure 5).<sup>14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 29, 20</sup>

# GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS

Figure 6. Chlamydia prevalence rates (%) pregnant women in African countries, 1990s

![](_page_19_Figure_3.jpeg)

Prevalence studies from Latin America and Caribbean, show rates from 1.9% amongst teenager in Chile<sup>21</sup>, 2.1% amongst pregnant women in Brazil<sup>22</sup>, and 12.2% amongst attendees to family planning clinics in Jamaica.<sup>23</sup>

In Africa, studies amongst pregnant women have revealed a prevalence rate from about 6% in Tanzania to 13% in Cape Verde, (Figure 6).<sup>24, 25, 26, 27, 28</sup>

# Table 2. Estimated new cases of chlamydial infections (in million) among adults, 1995 and 1999

		1995		1999
Region	Female	Male	Total	Female Male Total
North America	2.34	1.64	3.99	2.16 1.77 <b>3.93</b>
Western Europe	3.20	2.30	5.50	2.94 2.28 <b>5.22</b>
North Africa				
& Middle East	1.28	1.67	2.95	1.44 1.71 <b>3.15</b>
Eastern Europe				
& Central Asia	2.92	2.15	5.07	3.25 2.72 <b>5.97</b>
Sub Saharan Africa	8.44	6.96	15.40	8.24 7.65 <b>15.89</b>
South				
& South East Asia	20.28	20.20	40.48	23.96 18.93 <b>42.89</b>
East Asia & Pacific	2.63	2.70	5.33	2.74 2.56 <b>5.30</b>
Australia				
& New Zealand	0.17	0.12	0.30	0.17 0.14 <b>0.30</b>
Latin America				
& Caribbean	5.12	5.01	10.13	5.12 4.19 <b>9.31</b>
Total	46.38	42.77	89.15	50.03 41.95 91.98

13

![](_page_20_Picture_1.jpeg)

![](_page_21_Picture_0.jpeg)

# GONORRHOEA

In Western Europe, a significant decline of incidence of gonorrhoea has been observed during the years 1980-91 down to below 20 per 100 000 for gonorrhoea.<sup>29</sup>

However, since mid 1990s, an increase in cases of gonorrhoea has been observed in England and Wales, with a 35% increase in male cases and a 32% rise in female cases between 1995-97.<sup>30</sup> Significant increases in diagnoses of uncomplicated gonorrhoea were seen in most age groups between 1995 and 1998, with the largest average annual increases in the 16 to 19 years old of both sexes, and those over 34 years of age.<sup>31</sup>

In Sweden, trends in the incidence of gonorrhoea showed a steady decline with a incidence of 2.4 per 100 000 inhabitants in 1996. However, in 1997 the number of new cases was 17% higher than in 1996, which represents the first increase since 1976. The upward trend has persisted in 1998. The ratio male: female has been unchanged since 1995, with 80% of cases amongst male.<sup>32</sup>

In USA, between 1981 and 1996 the incidence of reported gonorrhoea decreased 71.3%, from 431.5 to 124.0 cases per 100 000. Rates amongst blacks were 35% times higher than among whites

in 1996, compare with 11 times higher in 1981. Among women the highest rates was observed in the 15-19 years old group and in men in the 20 to 24 year olds.<sup>33</sup>

An important increased in gonorrhoea rates has been seen in Eastern Europe, in the newly independent states of the former soviet union, with the highest rate in Estonia, Russia and Belarus (111, 139 and 125 per 100 000 respectively).

In the Baltic countries, the average age of patients suffering from STI is decreasing as shown in a study looking the epidemiological situation in the Baltic countries for the period 1990-94.<sup>34</sup>

#### Box 4. Basic facts about Gonorrhoea

Gonorrhoea is a common STIs, although up to 80% of women and 10% of men are asymtomatic.

- Clinical manifestations: inflammation of the mucous membranes of the urogenital tract, throat or rectum. Neonatal eye infection
- Complications: In women, pelvic infection leading to infertility, ectopic pregnancy, chronic pelvic inflammatory disease, chronic pelvic pain in women. In men, urethral strictures. In both sex, septicaemia, arthritis, endocarditis and meningitis. In new-born infant, eye infection can lead to blindness.

Diagnosis: Needs sophisticated equipment, is costly and not always available in developing country laboratories.

![](_page_23_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 8. Estimated gonorrhoea prevalence rate (%) in adults over 15 years of age, 1990s

In the Western Pacific the highest estimated prevalence rates for gonorrhoea (3% or greater) are found in Cambodia and Papua New Guinea In other countries, estimated rates are below 1%<sup>35</sup> (Figure 8).

In Australia, notification of gonoccocal infection doubled since 1991.<sup>36</sup>

In Africa, prevalence rates of gonorrhoea have shown rates amongst pregnant women as low as 0.02 in Gabon<sup>37</sup>, 3.1% in Central African Republic<sup>38</sup> and 7.8% in South Africa.<sup>39</sup> Studies conducted amongst patients with urethral/vaginal discharge or dysuria showed a prevalence rate for gonorrhoea of 5.7% in Benin<sup>40</sup>, 8.4% in Tanzania<sup>41</sup> and 17.1% in Malawi.<sup>42</sup>

Amongst symptomatic patients, the prevalence rate for gonorrhoea in African countries have ranged from 5.7% in Benin to 17.1 in Malawi

In children, untreated gonococcal ophthalmia can cause blindness. According to historical data, around 3% of new-borns with gonococcal ophthalmia will develop complete blindness if untreated, and 20% will have corneal damage of some degree.

![](_page_25_Picture_0.jpeg)

Table 3. Estimated new cases of gonorrhoea infections(in million) in adults, 1995 and 1999

(III IIIIIIIII) III	uuuuu	,	s ana i	
		1995		1999
Region	Female	Male	Total	Female Male Tota
North America	0.92	0.83	1.75	0.84 0.72 1.56
Western Europe	0.63	0.60	1.23	0.63 0.49 1.11
North Africa				
& Middle East	0.77	0.77	1.54	0.68 0.79 <b>1.47</b>
Eastern Europe				
& Central Asia	1.16	1.17	2.32	1.81 1.50 <b>3.31</b>
Sub Saharan Africa	8.38	7.30	15.67	8.84 8.19 <b>17.03</b>
South				
& South East Asia	14.55	14.56	29.11	15.09 12.12 <b>27.20</b>
East Asia & Pacifii	1.47	1.80	3.27	1.68 1.59 <b>3.27</b>
Australia				
& New Zealand	0.07	0.06	0.13	0.06 0.06 <b>0.12</b>
Latin America				
& Caribbean	3.67	3.045	7.12	4.01 3.26 <b>7.27</b>
Total	31.61	30.54	62.15	33.65 28.70 62.35
				Sector Se

![](_page_26_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_27_Picture_0.jpeg)

## **SYPHILIS**

In Western Europe, syphilis prevalence has declined substantially since the peak after the second World War, with incidence rates below 5 per 100 000 in the majority of countries.<sup>42, 43, 44</sup>

In the USA, trends of congenital syphilis began to decline in 1992 after an increase that follow a national syphilis epidemic in 1980s and early 1990s. Rates of congenital syphilis declined from

### Box 5. Basic facts about Syphilis

Syphilis is the classic example of a STI that can be successfully controlled by public health measures due to the availability of a highly sensitive diagnostic test and a highly effective and affordable treatment.

**Clinical manifestations**: ulceration of the uro-genital tract, mouth or rectum, If untreated, this is followed by a more generalised infection which is usually characterised by disseminated muco-cutaneous lesions. There may be fever and general malaise, as well as hair loss and mild hepatitis.

**Complications**: pregnancy wastage (abortion, premature delivery, and stillbirth) neonatal or congenital syphilis that occurs in about a third of new-born babies of women with untreated syphilis. Disorders of the musculo-skeletal, cardiovascular and nervous systems in the final stage of the disease (tertiary syphilis)

**Diagnosis**: Screening test is simple and relatively cheap but not always available in developing country laboratories.

78.2 in 1992 to 20.6 per 100 000 live births in 1998, with high rate in the south-eastern United States and among minority racial/ethnic populations. The trend observed is parallel with the trend for primary and secondary syphilis.<sup>46</sup>

In contrast with the decline in rates observed in Western Europe, since 1989 there has been an alarming increased of the rates in the newly independent states of the former Soviet Union. Syphilis incidence has increased from 5-15 per 100 000 observed in 1990 to as high as 120-170 per 100 000 of population in 1996<sup>47</sup> (Figure 10 and 11).<sup>48</sup>

# Table 4. Estimated new cases of syphilis (in million) amongst adults, 1995 and 1999

		1995			1999	
Region	Female	Male	Total	Female	Male	Total
North America	0.07	0.07	0.14	0.054	0.053	0.107
Western Europe	0.10	0.10	0.20	0.069	0.066	0.136
North Africa						
& Middle East	0.28	0.33	0.62	0.167	0.197	0.364
Eastern Europe						
& Central Asia	0.05	0.05	0.10	0.053	0.052	0.105
Sub-Saharan Afric	<b>a</b> 1.56	1.97	3.53	1.683	2.144	3.828
South						
& South East Asia	2.66	3.13	5.79	1.851	2.187	4.038
East Asia & Pacifii	0.26	0.30	0.56	0.112	0.132	0.244
Australasia	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.004	0.004	0.008
Latin America and						
Caribbean	0.56	0.70	1.26	1.294	1.634	2.928
Total	5.55	6.67	12.22	5.29	6.47	11.76

![](_page_29_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_29_Figure_2.jpeg)

![](_page_29_Figure_3.jpeg)

![](_page_29_Figure_4.jpeg)

In the Western Pacific, relatively high syphilis prevalence rates are found in Cambodia (4%), Papua New Guinea (3.5%) and the South Pacific (8%).<sup>49</sup>

In Mongolia, syphilis rates showed a decreasing trend during 1983-93 from 70 to 18 cases per 100 000 population, followed by an increase to 32 cases per 100 000 in 1995, with a 1.5 - 3.0 fold higher rate amongst the 15-24 age group.<sup>50</sup>

In the eastern Mediterranean Region, in 1997, the highest syphilis prevalence rate amongst pregnant women was reported by Djibouti (3.1%), followed by Morocco (3.0%) and Sudan (2.4%). Amongst blood donors, the highest prevalence was seen in Morocco (1.3%), followed by Qatar (1.1%).<sup>51</sup>

In Africa, syphilis prevalence rates amongst pregnant women varies from 2.5% in Burkina Faso to 17.4% in Cameroon (Figure 12).<sup>52, 53, 54, 55</sup>

![](_page_31_Figure_0.jpeg)

# GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS

Figure 12. Syphilis prevalence rates (%), pregnant women in Africa, 1990s

![](_page_31_Figure_3.jpeg)

Prenatal screening and treatment of pregnant women for syphilis is cost-effective, even in areas of prevalence as low as 0.1%. In South Africa, peri-natal death was 19.4 times more likely if incomplete treatment or not treatment at all was received.<sup>56</sup>

![](_page_31_Picture_5.jpeg)

FIGURE 13. ESTIMATED NEW CASES OF TRICHOMONIASIS AMONG ADULTS, 1999

![](_page_32_Figure_1.jpeg)

# TRICHOMONIASIS

In spite of the fact that trichomononiasis is the most common of STIs, data on prevalence and incidence are limited.

Vaginal trichomoniasis has been associated with increased HIV virus seroconversion in women<sup>57</sup>. Additionally, trichomoniasis is associated with adverse birth outcomes as premature delivery or rupture of the membranes and low birth weight.<sup>58</sup>

Recently, a study conducted in the Democratic Republic of Congo amongst HIV positive and negative pregnant women, show that trichomona vaginalis was isolated twice as often in HIV seropositve women. In addition, trichomoniasis was associated with low birth weight in the group of HIV sero-negative women.<sup>59</sup>

#### Box 6. Basic facts about trichomoniasis

It is the most common STI worlwide. It causes symptoms in approximately 50% of infected women. In men, infection is usually urethral and of short duration, but men easily transmit the parasite to women during the short period when they are infected. **Clinical manifestations**: vaginitis and occasionally male urethritis **Complications**: trichomonas infections have no systemic complications but there is evidence that vaginal trichomonas infection facilitates the spread of HIV infection **Diagnosis:** Test not always available in developing country laboratories

![](_page_34_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 14. Trichomoniasis prevalence rate (%), pregnant women in African countries, 1990s

Trichomoniasis prevalence rates amongst pregnant women in Latin America and Caribbean in the 1990s ranges from 2.1% in Brazil<sup>60</sup>, 3.6% in Barbados<sup>61</sup>, 8% in Nicaragua<sup>62</sup> and 27,5% in Chile<sup>63</sup>.

Prevalence studies amongst pregnant women in Africa show rates from 9.9% in Central African Republic to 41.4 in South Africa (Figure 14).<sup>64, 65, 66, 67, 68</sup>

Few prevalence studies have been conducted amongst men. Recently, a study in Malawi shows a prevalence of 20.8% with symptomatic men and 12.2% with asymptomatic<sup>69</sup>. Another study amongst male patients with urethral discharges in Egypt shows a prevalence rate of 28.8% and 8.2% with men suffering from impotence and infertility.<sup>70</sup>

![](_page_35_Picture_0.jpeg)

# Table 5. Estimated new cases of trichomoniasis (in million) among adults, 1995 and 1999

	,					
		1995			1999	
Region	Female	Male	Total	Female	e Male	Total
North America	3.78	4.23	8.01	3.90	4.29	8.18
Western Europe	5.30	5.76	11.06	5.09	5.52	10.62
North Africa						
& Middle East	2.32	2.22	4.54	2.35	2.25	4.60
Eastern Europe						
& Central Asia	4.90	5.17	10.07	6.36	6.75	13.11
Sub-Saharan Africa	<b>a</b> 15.07	15.35	30.42	15.93	16.19	32.12
South						
& South East Asia	39.56	35.87	75.43	40.06	36.36	76.42
East Asia						
& Pacific	4.83	4.53	9.36	4.91	4.61	9.51
Australasia	0.29	0.32	0.61	0.29	0.32	0.61
Latin America						
& Caribbean	8.52	9.10	17.62	8.79	9.50	18.30
Total	84.57	82.55	167.12	87.68	85.78	173.46

# **PREVENTION OF STIs**

The scale of the STI problem is to great to be dealt with in specialised STD centres alone, and steps must be taken to expand and integrate STI management in primary health and other health facilities.

The objectives of STI prevention and care are to reduce the prevalence of STI by interrupting their transmission, reducing the duration of infection and preventing the development of complications in those infected.

### **Box 7. Prevention of STIs**

#### **Primary prevention**

- Health education and promotion of safer sex and risk reduction
- Information campaigns on the association between HIV and other STIs

Promotion of condoms

#### Secondary prevention

Aim to reduce the prevalence by shortening the duration of disease by:

- Promotion of early health care seeking behaviour
- Accessible, effective and acceptable care
- Education and counselling
- Early detection and treatment of asymptomatic infections through case finding and screening

# NEISSERIA GONORRHOEA AND ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE

Genital tract gonorrhoea can be treated successfully by single dose therapy if the causative organism is susceptible to the antibiotic used. The capacity of Neisseria gonorrhoea to develop resistance is, however, one barrier to the use of effective treatment, so that treatment regimens must be tailored to the prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in each country.

Worldwide the major trends in antimicrobial resistance are related to the penicillin and quinolones. There are areas with high proportion of high-level resistance to tetracycline, an antibiotic frequently used in developing country, even if a not recommended therapy for gonorrhoea. There have been sporadic reports of isolates resistant to spectinomicin as well as of decreasing susceptibility to third generation cephalosporins.

The data collected during seven-year from the regional surveillance programme in Western Pacific WHO Region (GASP), even if with significant interregional differences, show that the proportion of quinolone-resistant gonococci is in a continuing trend in 11 of 13 countries in which quinolone resistance was assessed. The increase in resistance

has been substantial in some countries: in Hong Kong a rise from 3.3% in 1994 to 49% in 1998, in Singapore from 0.3% in 1993 to 7% and in Australia from < 0.1% 0in 1993 to 5.6% in 1997. The widespread resistance of gonococcus to penicillin, still remains at high level, while the percentage of isolate high-resistant to tetracycline is particularly elevated (70%) in Singapore and Solomon Islands<sup>71</sup>.

Significant increasing trend of ciprofloxacin resistance was also found in India and Japan, where a low level of penicillin resistance was detected.<sup>72,73</sup>

In the USA the gonococcal isolate surveillance programme (GISP) report for 1997 recorded, overall, the presence of 33.4% of strains resistant to the penicillin, tetracycline, or both. Resistance to fluoroquinolones, one of the currently recommended treatments for gonorrhoea, is rare with the exception of Ohio State in which decreased susceptibility persists at 16%.<sup>74</sup> A higher prevalence in penicillin and tetracycline was noted in south American countries and Caribbean with low level of quinolone resistance.

The data from national surveillance programmes in Western Europe indicate a decreased prevalence of penicillin resistant gonococci in the last years (31% in Sweden, 8% in Netherlands, 13% France, 19% Denmark, 6% Finland, 0.8% Scotland). In contrast the number of fluoroquinolone resistant gonococci is increasing: ciprofloxacin resistance was detected in 3.2% of strains in Netherlands, 3% in France, 9% in Denmark, 1% in Finland, 0.8% in Scotland. Tetracycline resistance was observed in a high proportion of strains. Resistant gonococcal strains are often isolated from imported case.<sup>75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80</sup>

Studies from a number of African countries on small samples indicate that penicillin resistance is broadly diffused among isolates; data on fluoroquinolone resistance are scantly, because of the inconstant use of these drugs. The majority of isolates exhibit resistance to tetracycline including high-level resistance.<sup>81</sup>

### REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. WHO Features No 152, WHO Geneva, 1990
- WHO. Global prevalence and incidence of selected curable sexually transmitted diseases: overview and estimates. World Health Organization, Geneva (1995).
- World Bank. World Development report: Investing in Health. Washington, 1993.
- Gilson L, Mkanje R, Grosskurth H, Mosha F, Picar J, Gavyole A, Todd J, Mayaud P, Swai R, Fransen L, Mabey D, Mills, A, Hayes R. Cost-effectiveness of improved treatment services for sexually transmitted diseases in preventing HIV-1 infection in Mwanza Region, Tanzania. *Lancet* 1997, 350: 1805-09.
- Over M, Piot P. Human Immunodeficiency Virus infection and other sexually transmitted diseases in developing countries: public health importance and priorities for resource allocation. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 1996, 174 (Suppl 23) S 162-75.
- Bunnell RE, Dahlberg L, Rolfs R, Ramsonm R. Gershman K, Farshy C, Newhall WjJ, Schmid S, Stone K, St Lous M. High prevalence and incidence of sexually transmitted diseases in urban adolescent females despite moderate risk behaviour. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 180 (5): 1624-31, 1999.
- Burstein GR, Gaydos CA, Diner-West M, Howell MR, Zenilman JM, Quinn TC. Incident Chlamydia trachomatis infections among inner-city adolescent females. *JAMA* 280 (6): 521-6, 1998.
- Cook RL. St George K, Lassak M, Tran N, Anhalt JP, Rinaldo CR. Screening for Chlamydia trachomatis infection in college women with a polymerase chain reaction assay. *Clinical infectious Diseases.* 28 (5): 1002–7, 1999.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Summary of notifiable diseases. United Sates. 1996. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 1996; 45: 4-6.

- 10. Kilmarx PH, Black CM, Limpakarnjanarat K, Shaffer N, Yanpaisarn S, Chaisilwattana P, Siriwasin W, Young NL, Farshy CE, Mastro TD, St Louis ME. Rapid assessment of sexually transmitted diseases in a sentinel population in Thailand: prevalence of chlamydia infection, gonorrhoea, and syphilis among pregnant women, 1996. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 74(3):189-93, 1998 Jun.
- 11. Paul VK, Singh M, Gupta U, Buckshee K, Bhargava VL, Takkar D, Nag VL, Bhan MK, Deorari AK. Chalmydia trachomatis infection among pregnatn women: prevalence an dprenatal importance, *National Medical Journal of India* 12(1): 11-4, 1999 Jan-Feb.
- 12. Passey M, Mgone CS, Lupiwa S. Suve N, Tiwara S, Lupiwa T. Clegg A. Alpers MP, Community based study of sexually transmitted diseases in rural women in the highlands of Papua New Guinea: prevalence and risk factors. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*. 74(2):120-7, 1998 Apr.
- Thomson J, Lin M, Halliday L, Preston G. McIntyre P, Gidding H, Amin J, Roberts L, Higgins K, Brooke F, Milton A, O'Brien E, Witteveen D. Crerar S.(1999) Australia's notifiable diseases status, 1998. Annual report of the National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System. Communicable Diseases Intelligence. 23 (11): 277-305.
- 14. Jonsdottir K, Geirsson RT., Steingrimsson O, Olafsson JH, Stefansdottir S. Reduced prevalence of cervical Chlamydia infection among women requesting termination. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*. 76(5): 438-41, 1997.
- 15. Munk C, Morre SA, Kjaer SK, Poll Pa, Bock JE, Meijer CJ, vand den Brule AJ. PCR detected chlamydia trachomatis infections from the uterine cervix of young women from the general population: prevalence and risk determinants. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 26(6): 325-8m 1999 Jul.

- 16. Kirkwood K, Horn K, Glasier A, Sutherland S, Young H, Patrizio C. Non-invasive screening of teenagers for Chlamydia trachomatis in a family planning setting. *British Journal of Family Planning* 25(1):11-2, 1999 Apr.
- Deak J, Nagy E, Vereb I, Meszarons G, Kovacs L, Nyari T. Berbik I. Prevalence of Chlamydia trachomatis infection in a low-risk population in Hungary. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*. 24 (9): 538-42, 1997 Oct.
- 18. Van de Hoek JA, Mulder-Folkerts DK, Coutinho RA, Dukers NH, Buimer M, van Doornum GJ. Opportunistic screening for genital infections with Chlamydia trachomatis among the sexually active population of Amsterdam. *Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde.* 143 (13): 668-72, 1999, Mar 27.
- Malkin JE, Prazuck T. Bogard M, Bianchi A, Cessot G, De Fanti AS, Baldin A, Bohbot JM, Halioua B, Lafaix C. Screening of Chlamydia trachomatis genital infection in a young Parisian population. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 75(3):188-9, 1999 Jun.
- 20. Bavastrelli M, Midulla M, Rossi D, Salzano M, Calzolari E, Midulla C, Sanguigni S. Torre A, Giardini O. Sexually active adolescents and yound adults: a high risk group for Chlamydia trachomatis infection. *Journal of Travel Medicine* 5(2): 57-60, 1998 Jun.
- Gaete MV, Prado VE, Altamirano PD. Martinez JB, Urrejola P, Pinto JM. Prevalence of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoea in Chilean asymptomatic adolescent males determined by urine sample. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*. 75(1):67-8, 1999 Feb.
- 22. Simoes JA, Giraldo PC, Faundes A. Prevalence of cervicovaginal infectins uring gestation and accuracy of clinical diagnosis. *Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 6(3):129-33, 1998.

- 23. Behets FM, Ward E, Fox L, Reed R. Spruyt A, Bennett L, Johnson L, Hoffman I, Figueroa JP. Sexually transmitted diseases are common in women attending Jamaican family planning clincis and appropriate detecetion tools are lacking. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 74 Suppl 1: S123-7, 1998 Jun.
- Wessel HF, Herrmann b, Dupret A, Moniz F, Brito C, Berstrom S. Genital infections among antenatal care attendees in Cape Verde. *African Journal of Reproductive Health.* 2 (1): 32-40, 1998.
- 25. Sturm AW, Vilkinson d, Ndovela N, bowen S, Connolly C. Pregnant women as a reservoir of undetected sexually transmitted diseases in rural South Africa: implications for disease control. *American Journal of Public Health.* 88 (8): 1243-5, 1998.
- 26. Bourgeois A, Henzel D, Dibanga g, Malonga-Mouelet G, Peeters M, Coulaud JP, Fransen L, Delaporte E. Prospective evaluation of a flow chart using a risk assessment for the diagnosis of STDs in primary healthcare centres in Libreville, Gabon. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 74 Suppl 1: S128-32, 1998.
- Blankhart D, Muller O, Gresenguet G, Weis P. Sexually transmitted infections in young pregnant women in Bangui, Central African Republic. *International Journal of STD & AIDS*, 10 (9): 609-14, 1999.
- 28. Mayaud P, ka-Gina G, Cornelissen J, Todd J, Kaatano G, West B, Uledi E, Rwakatare M, Kopwe L, Manoko D, Laga M, Grosskurth H, Hayes R. Mabey D. Validation of a WHO algorithm with risk assessment for the clinical management of vaginal discharge in Mwanza, Tanzania, *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 74 Suppl 1: S77-84, 1998.
- De Schryver A, Meheus A. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases: the global picture. WHO Bulletin OMS 68: 639-53, 1990.
- Anonymous. The incidence of gonorrhoea in England and Wales is rising. *Communicable disease Report. CDR Weekly* 7 (25): 217-20, 1997.

- Lamagni TL, Hughes G, Rogers PA, Paine T, Catchpole M. New cases seen at genitourinary medicine clinics: England 1998. CDR Communicable Disease Report CDR Supp 6 (9): S2-12, 1999.
- Berglund T, Fredlund H, Ramstedt K, reemergence of gonorrhea in Sweden. Sexually Transmitted Disease 26(7):390-1, 1999.
- Fox KK, Whittington WL, Levine WC, Moran JS, Zaidi AA, Nakashima AK. Gonorrhea in the United States, 1981-1996: Demographic and Geographic trends. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 25 (7): 386-93, 1998.
- 34. Lacdane G, Bukovskis M. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases in the Baltic countries. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, supp 164: 128-31, 1997.
- 35. World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Western Pacifi. STI/HIV Status and trends of STI, HIV and AIDS at the end of the Millennium, Western Pacifid Region, 1999.
- 36. Thompson J et al. Ibid 13.
- 37. Blankhart D. Ibid 27.
- 38. Bourgeous A. Ibid 26.
- 39. Sturm AW. Ibid 25.
- 40. Alary M, Baganizi E, Guedeme A, Padonou F, Davo N, Adjovi C, van Dyck E, Germain M, Joly J, Mahony JB. Evaluation of clinical algorithms fo rthe diagnosis of gonococcal and chlamydial infections among men with urethral discharge and dysuria an women with vaginal discharge in Benin. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*. 74 Supp 1: S 44-9, 1998.
- 41. Mayaud P et al Ibid 28.
- 42. Costello DC, Wangel AM, Hoffman IF, Canner JK, Lule GS., Lema VM, Liomba VM, Liomba NG, Dallabetta GA. Validation of the WHO diagnositic algorithm and development of an alternative scoring system for the management of women presenting with vaginal discharge in Malawi. *Sexually Transmitted Infection.* 74 Supp 1: S50-8, 1998

- Garcia-Lechuz JM, Rivera M, Catalan P, Sanchez Carillo c, Rodriguez-Creixems M, Bouza E. Differences in curable STDs between HIV and non-HIV population in Spain. *Aids Patient Care & STDs.* 13(3): 175-7, 1999.
- Paget WJ, Zimmermann HP. Surveillance of sexually transmitted diseases in Switzerland, 1973-1994: evidence of declining trends i gonorrhoea and syphilis. *Sozial and Praventivmedizin.* 42(1): 30-6, 1997.
- 45. Lamagni TL et al. Ibid 31.
- Anonymous. Congenital syphilis, United States, 1998. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 48 (340): 757-61, 1999.
- WHO/EURO Epidemic of sexually transmitted diseases in Eastern Europe. Report on a Who Meeting, Copenhagen, Denamrk 13-15 May 1996.
- Renton AM, borisenko KK, Meheus A, Gramyko A. Epidemic of syphilis in the newly independent states of the former Soviet Union. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 74(3): 165-66, 1998.
- 49. World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Western Pacific. *STI/HIV status and trends of STI, HIV and AIDS at the end of the Millennium*, WHO?WPO, 1999.
- 50. Purewdawa E., Moon T, Baigalmaa C, Davaajav K, smith M, Vermund S. Rise insexually transmitted diseases during democratization and economic crisis in Mongolia. *STD & AIDS*; 8(6): 398-401, 1997.
- 51. WHO/EM. Report on the Intercountry workshop on STD prevalence study, Amman, Jordan, 12-15 October 1998.
- 52. Meda N, Sangare L, Lankoande S, Compaore IP, Catraye J, Sanou PT, Van Dyck E, Cartoux M, Soudre RB. The HIV epidemic in Burkina Faso: current status and the knowledge level of the population about AIDS, 1994-95. *Revue* d'Epidemiologie et de Santé Publique. 46 (1): 14-23, 1998.
- 53. Blankhart D et al Ibid 27.
- 54. Sturm AW et al. Ibid 25.

- 55. Mbopi Keou FX, Mbu R, Mauclere P, Andela A, Tetanye E, Leke R, Chaouat G, Barre-Sinoussi F, Martin P, Belec L. Antenatal HIV prevalence in Yaounde, Cameroon. *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 9 (7): 400-2, 1998.
- 56. Wilkinson D, Malrne S, Connolly C. Epidemiology of syphilis in pregnancy in rural South Africa: opportunities for control. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 21 (1) 1997, 57-62.
- 57. Laga M, Manoka A, Kivuvu M, Malele B, Tuliza M, Nzila N. Nonulcerative sexaually transmitted diseases as risk factors for HIV-1 transmission in women: results from a cohort study. *AIDS* 7: 95-102, 1993.
- 58. Cothc MF, Pastorek JG, Nugent RP, Hillier SL, Gibbs RS, Martin DH et al. Trichomonas vaginalis associated with low birth weight and pre-term delivery. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 24: 353-60, 1997.
- 59. Sutton MY, Sternberg M, Nsuami M, Behets F, Nelson AM, St Louis ME. Trichomoniasis in pregnant human immunodeficiency virus-infected and human immunodeficiency virus-uninfected congolese women: prevalence, risk factors, and association with low birth weight. *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology* 181(3): 656-62, 1999.
- 60. Simoes JA, Giraldo PC, Ribbeiro Filho AD et al. Prevalencia e fatores de risco associados as infeccoes cervico-vaginais durante a gestacao. *Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet* 18 (6): 459-67, 1996.
- Levett PN, Taravinga M, Maheswaran K et al. Genital tract infections in sexually active women in Barbados. West Indian Medical Journal 44: 128, 1995.
- 62. Espinoza E, Egger M, Herrmann B, Isler M, Voken K, Davey Smith G. STD in Nicaragua: population rate estimates and health seeking behaviour. IX International Conference on AIDS (ICAIDS). Abstract N0o PO C06 2702, 1993.

### GLOBAL PREVALENCE AND INCIDENCE OF SELECTED CURABLE SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED INFECTIONS

- 63. Franjola R, Anazco R, Puente R et al. Trichomonas vaginalis infection in pregnant women and newborn infants. Rev Med Chil 117(2): 142-145.
- 64. Blankhart et al. lb 27.
- 65. Wessel et al, ib 24.
- 66. Bourgeois et al Ibid 26.
- 67. Mayaud et al Ibid 28.
- 68. Sturm et al Ibid 25.
- Hobbs MM, Kazembe P, Reed AW, Miller WC, Nkata E, Zimba D, Daly CC, Chakraborty H, Cohen MS, Hoffman I. Trichomonas vaginaleis as a cause of urethritis in Malawian men. Sexually Transmitted Diseases. 26(7): 381-7, 1999.
- el Seoud SF, Abbas MM, Habib FS. Study of trichomoniasis among Egyptian male patients. Journal of the Egyptian society of Parasitology. 28(1): 263–70,1998.
- 71. WHO Ibid 35.
- 72. Ray K, Bala M, Kumar J, Misra RS. Trend of antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae at New Delhi, India. Int J STD AIDS 2000; 11: 115-118.
- 73. Tanaka M, Nakayama H, Haraoka M, Saika T, Kobayashi I, Naito S. Antimicrobial resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and high prevalence of ciprofloxacin-resistant isolates in Japan, 1993 to 1998. J Clin Microbiol 2000;38: 521-525.
- 74. Fox KK et al. Ibid 33.
- 75. Berglund T et al. Ibid 32.
- 76. Anonymous. Gonorrhoea 1998 EPI-NEWS n. 25, 1999. Tove Ronne Ed.
- Nissinen A, Jarvinen H, Liimatainen O, Jahkola M, Huovinen P, and the Finnish Group for Antimicrobial Resistance. Antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae in Finland, 1976 to 1995. Sex Transm dis 1997; 24: 576-581.

- 78. Young H. Epidemiology and treatment outcome of infection with antibiotic resistant strains of Neisseria gonorrhoeae in Scotland. Communicable Disease and public health 1999; 2: 198-202.
- 79. Anonymous. Les gonococcies en France en 1997. Réseau RENAGO.
- 80. De Neeling AJ, Van Santen-Verheuvel M, Peerbooms PGH, Willelms RJL. Emerging resistance to ciprofloxacin in Neisseria gonorrhoeae in the Netherlands. C183.
- Lind I. Antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae. CID 1997; 24S: S93-97.

For orders, contact : World Health Organization Department of HIV/AIDS 20 Avenue ApDS 20 Avenue